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December 13, 2025 

 

BY EMAIL 

Jared Perdue, Secretary 
Florida Department of Transportation 
Brad.Bradley@dot.state.fl.us 
 
Re: Auxiliary Vehicle Flashing Lights Violate Health and Safety Laws 

Dear Secretary Perdue, 

I am writing to formally request the immediate cessation of the use of auxiliary 
flashing lights on Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) vehicles, equipment, and 
installations. The continued use of these lights represents a demonstrable failure to 
comply with established federal, state, and worker health and safety laws on five distinct 
grounds, including a violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

The current application of these flashing lights places the FDOT in violation of 
regulations designed to ensure motor vehicle safety, public well-being, and employee 
safety: 

1. Violation of Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (FMVSS-108) 

Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standard No. 108 (49 CFR 571.108(S6.2.1)) governs the 
lighting standards for motor vehicles. While this standard prohibits excessively bright 
auxiliary lights, the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) has provided 
clear interpretative guidance regarding the permissible function of such lamps. 

The NHTSA Letter of Interpretation (Reference: NCC-241023-001TSEI, December 
13, 2024), explicitly clarifies that, under the relevant provisions of FMVSS-108, only steady-
burning auxiliary lights are permitted. The use of flashing auxiliary lights by the FDOT is 
therefore in direct violation of this authoritative federal interpretation and the underlying 
safety standard. Compliance requires the auxiliary lights in question to be replaced with a 
steady-burning alternative or eliminated entirely. 

2. Public Health Hazard and Non-Compliance with Neurological Safety Guidelines 



The use of flashing lights with high luminance poses a recognized public health risk 
to the traveling public, specifically to individuals with neurological disabilities. Leading 
research confirms established safety thresholds for light stimulus: 

The research article, "International Guidelines for Photosensitive Epilepsy: Gap 
Analysis and Recommendations," confirms that a change in luminance exceeding 20 
cd/m² is the upper threshold for safely managing risks for individuals with neurological 
disabilities, including photosensitive epilepsy. Flashing, high-intensity auxiliary vehicle 
lights present a significant risk of exceeding this established safety limit, which can trigger 
adverse neurological events such as seizures. As a state agency responsible for public 
infrastructure, the FDOT must adhere to the highest standards of public health and safety 
by eliminating visual stimuli that knowingly compromise the well-being of motorists. 

3. Violation of Florida State Law Regarding License Plate Visibility 

Florida Statutes Title XXIII Motor Vehicles § 316.605 mandates that all vehicle 
license plates must be “plainly visible and legible at all times”. The excessive intensity, 
high-frequency rate, and intense glare produced by the current auxiliary flashing lights 
severely compromise the ability of other drivers and law enforcement to clearly perceive 
necessary vehicle markings, including license plates. 

This interference with clear visibility — a consequence of the lights' non-compliant 
nature and intensity — places the FDOT in violation of state law requirements designed to 
maintain order and public safety on Florida roadways. 

4. Violation of Florida Worker Safety Requirements 

As an employer, the Florida Department of Transportation has a paramount duty to 
protect its workers from recognized hazards. This obligation is codified under the 
Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSH Act), specifically Section 5(a)(1), often referred 
to as the General Duty Clause, which applies to Florida state employers. 

The General Duty Clause requires that the FDOT furnish to each of its employees a 
place of employment which is free from recognized hazards that are causing or are likely to 
cause death or serious physical harm. The use of excessively bright, non-compliant 
flashing lights on FDOT vehicles creates a recognized hazard for employees in several 
ways: 

• Impaired Visibility for Workers: Excessive, high-intensity flashing light can create a 
'blinding' or 'strobe' effect, impairing the vision of FDOT workers operating 
equipment or performing tasks in and around the vehicles, increasing the risk of 
workplace accidents (e.g., struck-by hazards). 



• Contributes to Hazardous Roadway Conditions: By violating federal lighting 
standards and causing vision issues for the public, the lights may increase the risk 
of motorist confusion or neurological events, thereby creating a more dangerous 
work zone environment for FDOT employees. 

The failure to use steady-burning, compliant lighting, which is a feasible and well-
recognized safety measure, represents a failure to abate a recognized hazard, putting FDOT 
employees at unnecessary and preventable risk of serious harm or injury in violation of the 
General Duty Clause. 

5. Violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) 

The use of non-compliant, intensely flashing auxiliary lights creates an accessibility 
barrier for individuals with disabilities, which constitutes a violation of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA). 

Title II of the ADA prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability in all services, 
programs, and activities provided by state and local government entities. By maintaining 
public highways and operating vehicles thereon, the FDOT is required to ensure full and 
equal access to these public facilities. The light-induced health hazard prevents safe, 
equal, and independent access to public streets and highways for individuals with 
photosensitive neurological disabilities such as epilepsy, autism, PTSD, migraines, and 
photophobia. This lack of safe access is a direct violation of the ADA's non-discrimination 
mandate. 

 

In consideration of these five distinct and verifiable reasons — federal law violation, 
public health hazard, state law violation, worker safety failure, and ADA non-compliance — 
I respectfully but urgently request that you issue an immediate directive. 

This directive must mandate the cessation of the use of all non-compliant auxiliary 
flashing lights and require the FDOT to align its vehicle lighting practices with all applicable 
federal and state health, safety, and accessibility laws. 

I look forward to your prompt response and confirmation of the corrective actions to 
be implemented. 

Sincerely, 

/s/ Mark Baker 
President 

Soft Lights Foundation 
mbaker@softlights.org 

mailto:mbaker@softlights.org

